FILED 08-06-2021 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2021AP174-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

MICHAEL T. DEWEY,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND THE DENIAL OF A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN CIRCUIT COURT FOR MONROE COUNTY, HONORABLE TODD L. ZIEGLER PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

David R. Karpe Attorney No. 1005501 Karpe Law Office 448 West Washington Avenue Madison, Wisconsin 53703 Tel. (608) 255-2773 ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Questions Presented
Statement on Oral Argument and Publication
Statement of the Case 3
Argument
I. The trial court erred in denying the defense's pretrial motion to dismiss counts because counts one, three, four, six through seventeen, twenty-seven, twenty-eight, thirty, and thirty-two through thirty-six lacked reasonable particularity as to a time frame
A. Standards
B. The law is not "unsettled" on this question 49
III. Even if the question is unsettled, the jury instruction is reviewable as plain and fundamental error 52
Conclusion

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Case Law

State v. Balliette, 2011 WI 79, 336 Wis. 2d 358,

Lunde v. State, 85 Wis. 2d 80,

270 N.W.2d 180 (1978) 55

State v. Beasley, 2004 WI App 42, 271 Wis. 2d 469, 678 N.W.2d 600
State v. Domke, 2011 WI 95, 337 Wis. 2d 268, 805 N.W.2d 364
State v. Erickson, 227 Wis. 2d 758, 596 N.W.2d 749 (1999)
State v. Fawcett, 145 Wis.2d 244, 426 N.W.2d 91 (Ct. App. 1988) passim
State v. Glenn, 199 Wis. 2d 575, 545 N.W.2d 230 (1996) 53
State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, 361 Wis.2d 529, 861 N.W.2d 174
State v. Johnson, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 449 N.W.2d 845 (1990)
State v. Kempainen, 2015 WI 32, 361 Wis.2d 450, 863 N.W.2d 587
State v. Lomagro, 113 Wis. 2d 582, 335 N.W.2d 583 (1983)
State v. McMahon, 186 Wis. 2d 68, 519 N.W.2d 621 (Ct. App. 1994) 56

State v. Marcum, 166 Wis.2d 908,
480 N.W.2d 545 (Ct. App. 1992) 51
State v. Paulson, 106 Wis. 2d 96,
315 N.W.2d 350 (1982) 53
State v. Schumacher, 144 Wis.2d 388,
424 N.W.2d 672 (1988)
State v. Sirisun, 90 Wis. 2d 58,
279 N.W.2d 484 (Ct. App. 1979) 42
State v. Smith, 170 Wis.2d 701,
490 N.W.2d 40 (1992)
State v. Starks, 2013 WI 69, 349 Wis. 2d 274,
833 N.W.2d 146 46
State v. Ziebart, 2003 WI App 258, 268 Wis. 2d 468,
673 N.W.2d 369 53
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) 41, 46
United States v. Cruikshank, 92 U.S. 542 (1875) 36

Constitutions

United States Constitution Amendment VI35,45
United States Constitution Amendment XIV 35, 45
Wisconsin Constitution Article I, §5
Wisconsin Constitution Article I, §7 36, 52
Wisconsin Statutes
752.35 54
948.025 38
Wisconsin Jury Instructions – Criminal
Wis. JI – Crim. 255
Wis. JI– Crim. 517

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2021AP174-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

MICHAEL T. DEWEY,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND THE DENIAL OF A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN CIRCUIT COURT FOR MONROE COUNTY, HONORABLE TODD L. ZIEGLER PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Questions Presented

1. Did the trial court err by denying the defense pretrial motion to dismiss due to vagueness?

The trial court found that there was sufficient notice to the defendant due to the nature of the charges.

The Court of Appeals should reverse because Mr. Dewey was not put on adequate notice of the charges so as to defend against them

2. Did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance of counsel by not objecting to the form of jury instructions with extended and divided charging periods?

The trial court found that there was no ineffective assistance of counsel because the law is unsettled on the question.

The Court of Appeals should hold that the question is not unsettled, and should reverse.

Case 2021AP000174 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-06-2021 Page 9 of 66

3. Should the Court order a new trial because the jury instructions contained plain and fundamental error?

The Court of Appeals should hold that error is plain and fundamental.

Statement on Oral Argument and Publication

Mr. Dewey does not oppose publication or oral argument.

Statement of the Case

The Defendant-Appellant, Michael Dewey, appeals from a conviction and sentence after a jury trial in Monroe County, which resulted in convictions for thirty-six counts, including Repeated Sexual Assault of the Same Child, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.025, nine counts of First Degree Sexual Assault of a Child, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.02, fourteen counts of Exposing Genitals to a Child, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.10 (eight counts were

felonies, six were misdemeanors), two counts of Incest with a Child, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.06, four counts of Child Enticement, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.07, and one count of False Imprisonment, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 940.30. R160, R161, *but see* R207 and R208. Mr. Dewey brought two motions for postconviction relief, the first one of which resulted in dismissal of the six counts charging Repeated Sexual Assault of the Same Child under Wis. Stat. § 948.025. R182, R190, R192, R193.

The case began on November 7, 2014, when the State filed a criminal complaint charging Mr. Dewey. R4. Preliminary hearing took place on December 4, 2014, and the circuit court bound Mr. Dewey over for trial. R10, R266. An information was filed, which was amended three times. R12, R37, R71, R81. The fourth version of the

¹This brief will use the following system for citing to the record: R followed by the item's number according to the clerk's record followed, if applicable, by a colon and page number, *e.g.*, R262:24 for the twenty-fourth page of the June 10, 2016 sentencing transcript.

information, that is, the third amended information, was filed on the morning of the second day of trial, April 12, 2016, R274:6,² and charged Mr. Dewey with the following crimes, the first 28 counts naming TCE as a victim and counts 29 through 36 naming CRC as a victim:

Count 1: § 948.02 sexual assault of a child against TCE (born 9/3/99) occurring from 3/9/05 to 12/31/05 (residence on East Veterans street).

Count 2: § 948.025 repeated sexual assault of a child against TCE, same dates as count one (residence on East Veterans street).

²The difference between the amended information filed April 8, 2016, R71, and the one filed on April 12, 2016, R81, is that the April 8, 2016 information was missing dates from counts 31 through 36 that had been in the first amended information filed November 4, 2015, filed the day before the hearing on the defense motion to dismiss. R37. The omission in the April 8 version appears to have been accidental. The original information charged that counts 31-36 had been committed "on or between September 2, 2010 and September 2, 2012." R12:7-8.

Count 3: § 948.10 exposing child's genitals, against TCE, same dates as counts one and two (residence on East Veterans street).

Count 4: § 948.10 exposing own genitals, against TCE, same dates as counts one, two and three (residence on East Veterans street).

Count 5: § 948.025 repeated sexual assault of a child against TCE, occurring from 8/1/06 to 12/1/07 (residence on East Veterans street).

Count 6: § 948.02 sexual assault of a child against TCE, same dates as count five (residence on East Veterans street).

Count 7: § 948.07 child enticement against TCE, same dates as counts five and six (residence on East Veterans street).

Count 8: § 948.10 exposing genitals, against TCE, same dates as counts five, six and seven (residence on East Veterans street).

Count 9: § 948.10 exposing genitals, against TCE, same

dates as counts five, six, seven and eight (residence on East Veterans street).

Count 10: § 948.02 sexual assault of a child against TCE, occurring from 1/1/06 to 12/31/06 (Village of Oakdale).

Count 11: § 948.02 sexual assault of a child against TCE, same dates as count ten (Village of Oakdale).

Count 12: § 948.10 exposing genitals, against TCE, same dates as count ten and eleven (Village of Oakdale).

Count 13: § 948.10 exposing genitals, against TCE, same dates as count ten (Village of Oakdale).

Count 14: § 948.02 sexual assault of a child against TCE, 11/9/10-2/9/11 "or between 6/16/11 and 9/2/11" (oral sexual intercourse, at Hollister Avenue residence).

Count 15: § 948.02 sexual assault of a child against TCE, same dates as count 14 (sexual intercourse).

Count 16: § 948.10 exposing child's genitals, against TCE, same dates as counts 14 and 15 (at Hollister Avenue residence) (at Hollister Avenue residence).

Count 17: § 948.10 exposing own genitals, against TCE,

same dates as counts 14, 15 and 16 (at Hollister Avenue residence).

Count 18: § 948.025 repeated sexual assault of a child against TCE, occurring from 9/2/10 to 9/2/12 (at Hollister Avenue residence).

Count 19: § 948.02 sexual assault of a child against TCE, occurring from 9/3/11 to 9/2/12 (at Hollister Avenue residence).

Count 20: § 948.07 child enticement, 9/3/11-9/2/12 (same time frame as count 19) against TCE (at Hollister Avenue residence).

Count 21: § 948.10 exposing child's genitals, against TCE, same dates as counts 19 and 20 (at Hollister Avenue residence).

Count 22: § 948.10 exposing own genitals, against TCE, same dates as counts 19, 20 and 21 (at Hollister Avenue residence).

Count 23: § 948.02 sexual assault of a child (force or violence) against TCE, occurring on 9/10/13 (Village of

Kendall).

Count 24: § 948.025 repeated sexual assault of a child against TCE, occurring from 1/1/13 to 12/31/13 (Village of Kendall).

Count 25: § 948.07 child enticement, against TCE, same date as count 23 (Village of Kendall).

Count 26: § 940.30 false imprisonment, against TCE, same date as counts 23 and 25 (Village of Kendall).

Count 27: § 948.10 exposing genitals, against TCE, counts 23, 25 and 26 (Village of Kendall).

Count 28: § 948.10 exposing genitals, against TCE, occurring on 9/10/13 (Village of Kendall).

Count 29: § 948.025 repeated sexual assault of a child against CRC (born 8/2/03) occurring from 1/1/13 to 12/31/13 (Village of Kendall).

Count 30: § 948.06 incest against CRC, occurring from 1/1/13 to 12/31/13 (Village of Kendall).

Count 31: § 948.025 repeated sexual assault of a child against CRC, occurring from 1/1/10 to 6/10/10 or "on or

between" 11/9/10 and 2/9/11 or "on or between" 6/16/11 and 12/31/11 (at Hollister Avenue residence).

Count 32: § 948.02 sexual assault of a child against CRC, same dates as count 31 (at Hollister Avenue residence).

Count 33: § 948.06 incest against CRC, same dates as counts 31 and 32 (at Hollister Avenue residence).

Count 34: § 948.07 child enticement, against CRC, same dates as counts 31, 32 and 33 (at Hollister Avenue residence).

Count 35: § 948.10 exposing genitals, against CRC, same dates as counts 31, 32, 33 and 34 (at Hollister Avenue residence).

Count 36: § 948.10 exposing genitals, against CRC, same dates as count thirty-one (at Hollister Avenue residence).³ R81.

³As previously noted, Mr. Dewey was found guilty at trial on all counts, but the circuit court dismissed the counts charging violations of Wis. Stat. § 948.025 based on Mr. Dewey's first motion for postconviction relief. R197, R204, R206, R207, R278.

On August 19, 2015, the defendant filed a motion to dismiss counts one through twenty-two, twenty-four and twenty-seven through thirty-six, along with a brief, challenging the reasonableness of the charging scheme in those charges that did not contain a specific date. R25, R27. The circuit court entered an order regarding that motion on September 14, 2015, ordering that the State would be granted "time to narrow down the window of the allegations if possible" and that the state would submit either a letter or an amended information by September 30, 2015. R31. The State submitted a letter-brief on October 7, 2015, arguing that "the charging ranges on all of the counts in the information [were] sufficiently stated to allow the defendant to plead and prepare a defense ..." R32:1.

⁴The motion says "27-26," an obvious typographical error. R27.

⁵In its reply brief, the defense argued that counts 23, 25, 26, 27, 28 were the only counts that should survive the motion to dismiss, but discussed the option that the court order the State to define the allegations with greater accuracy. R33:3.

Case 2021AP000174 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-06-2021 Page 18 of 66

The State asserted that *State v. Hurley*, 2015 WI 35, 361 Wis.2d 529, 861 N.W.2d 174, supported its position. R32:2-5.

On October 9, 2015, the defense filed a response maintaining that the facts and circumstances of *Hurley* were so different that it did not control this case. R33. On November 4, 2015, the State filed an amended information. R37. That charging document narrowed down the time frame on some of the counts: counts one through four had a somewhat narrower time frame: March 9, 2005 to December 31, 2005, instead of all of 2005. The time frame on counts 14 through 17 was narrowed down to a period from November 9, 2010, to February 9, 2011, "or between June 16, 2011 and September 2, 2011, instead of the earlier version's time frame of September 3, 2010 to September 2, 2011. The time frame for counts 31 through 36 was somewhat narrowed down to January 1, 2010, to June 1, 2010, or "on or between" 11/9/10 and 2/9/11 or "on or between" 6/16/11 and 12/31/11. R30.

Case 2021AP000174 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-06-2021 Page 19 of 66

At a November 5, 2015 motion hearing, the State explained the amendments were "based on the recent conversations that Detective Brose had with the victims," R264:5, and went on to say "I don't know that it really makes the issues presented by the defense moot or anything like that. They're still relatively broad ranges of these charging dates." R264:5-6. Defense counsel confirmed that the amendments did not alter the defense position on this issue: "I realize it did shorten the gap in some of them. But in our view, there're still some pretty significant gaps that were not addressed that were part of the motion." R264: 6.

The court denied the motion orally, R264:13-14 ("So, I'm not granting the defense's motion to dismiss to dismiss any of the counts"), conducting the following analysis:

The defense alleges that the time frames alleged violate the defendant's right to due process to prepare an adequate defense, and that the acquittal would not bar another prosecution for the same offense ... The law is clear that I have to address the seven factors under [State v.] Fawcett, [145 Wis.2d 244, 426 N.W.2d 91

Case 2021AP000174 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-06-2021 Page 20 of 66

(Ct. App. 1988) and *State v.*] *Hurley*, [2015 WI 35,] 361 Wis.2d 529[, 861 N.W.2d 174].

R264:6, 8-9.

Comparing the case at bar with *Hurley*, the judge said,

Hurley is a similar case in many respects. That case determined that the age, that the range didn't violate the defendant's rights with an approximate five-year time frame with 26 alleged acts over that time frame. It is noted ... that the count or counts [in Hurley] were repeated sexual assault of a child which in this case we have some of those counts; we also have other counts that are specifically sexual assault or exposing genitals, etc.

Going over the *Fawcett* factors, first is the age and intelligence of the alleged victim, in this case victims. Here TCE was alleged to be assaulted from the ages of five through 14. TCE would've just turned 16. CRC, the alleged assaults occurred between the age of 7 to 10, and CRC is now 12. As far as comparing it to the *Hurley* case, which I think is the most pertinent case that I have, similar ages of the behavior, or alleged incidences starting for the two as in the alleged or the victim in *Hurley*. Also similar that father, stepfather is alleged to have committed

Case 2021AP000174 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-06-2021 Page 21 of 66

supporting delay in reporting. We also have some repeated sexual assaults somewhere early, even more repeated with TCE. I know this is a discrepancy in the complaint or different versions, I believe, that at one point TCE alleged that it happened approximately 80 total times with Mr. Dewey. CRC, I believe, used the number 77 times. That's significantly more than the 26 times of the *Hurley* case.

R264:9-10.

The judge went on to say that he lacked information regarding the intelligence of the accusers, except to say, "There is nothing that specifically sticks out that they're not of average intelligence or they're not as well beyond average intelligence. So that factor looks to the court very similar to *Hurley*, so that in the court's opinion ways in favor of the state." R264:10. The judge then proceeded to consider the second and third *Fawcett* factors together, following the procedure the court believed the court had followed in *Hurley*. The court stated the factors as "the surrounding circumstances and the nature of the offense including whether it is likely to occur at a specific time or is likely to

have been discovered immediately." R264:10

The court continued to compare the facts of the case to *Hurley*:

There is some similarities in that there is the victim or alleged victim living together similar to Hurley, as the children would have lived with Mr. Dewey for the majority of the time. I know there is some dispute as to the extent of that, but I don't think there's disputing that they live with they lived with Mr. Dewey a good majority of the time. No one was present witnessing the assaults obviously or alleged assaults. I believe there is some allegations that suggest family could have been in the home at the time. As pointed out in Hurley, child molestation often encompasses a period of time and a pattern. A singular date is not likely to stand out except I would like to note TCE remembered the similar date with count 23 which is not an issue ... So we have some alleged dissuasion of reporting vulnerability and not likely being discussed immediately.

The fourth factor is the length of the alleged period of time in relation to the number of criminal acts [discussed above] TCE is 80 times over ... eight or nine years.

R264:10-11.

Case 2021AP000174 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-06-2021 Page 23 of 66

The court also referred to acts alleged to have occurred in a different county. "The longest time frame [of a single count] was up to two years, but I think that time frame was cut down in counts 31 through 36. As *Hurley* points out, this length of time in relation to the number of criminal acts goes more at credibility and weight of testimony. This is not the type of situation that lends itself to an alibi defense." R264:12.

Regarding the remaining *Fawcett* factors, the judge said,

Factors five and six of the passage are of time since alleged and the period of time of arrest him the time of the complaint. This varies for TCE for less than a year up to nine years or so depending on the count. CRC is less than a year to about four years as far as the time from complaint to arrest the time is alleged to have occurred. I'm not finding any improper purposes necessarily for delay ... I don't see anything that suggests it affects greatly the ability to present a defense, again there is no alibi is not the likely scenario in this ... Finally, the seventh factor is the ability of alleged victim to particularize a date and time of the offenses. The *Hurley* case points out that the ability to

Case 2021AP000174 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-06-2021 Page 24 of 66

recall details in this type of situation is very limited. They were able to recall where [they were] living for the most part when they occurred, where they occurred ... I think the *Hurley* case from my perspective makes it very clear that this is not too wide of a time frame for these scenarios.

R264:12-13.

The case proceeded to trial on April 11, 2016, lasting four days. R273-R276. The State's first witness was DC, the mother of the two alleged victims, TC and CC. R273:123. Michael Dewey is the father of the younger child, CC, who was 12 years old at the time of the trial. Id. DC was in a relationship with Mr. Dewey for 12 years, from 2000 to 2014, during which time they changed residences. R273:124-125. Prior to breaking up with Mr. Dewey, DC never saw signs that the children were being abused. R273:131. The accusations began arising after the couple broke up, when Mr. Dewey reported to the child protective authorities that DC had allowed the children to use alcohol. R273:128. This accusation upset DC, but she

Case 2021AP000174 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-06-2021 Page 25 of 66

testified that she had never told the boys to accuse Mr. Dewey of anything in order to get him into trouble. R273:129. It was around of the time of this dispute that CC first told DC that Mr. Dewey had sexually assaulted him. R273:128. The boys still saw Mr. Dewey as a father figure even after the accusations were made. R273:130. There was a dispute as to whether DC told the detective investigating the case that TC said he would kill Mr. Dewey when TC found out that Mr. Dewey had assaulted TC's brother — DC said she told the detective that TC did not make such a threat. R273:132.

DE, the father of TC, testified that he learned about the sexual assault accusation from a message on FaceBook. R273:140. He took TC to the sheriff's office to make an official report. Id. Prior to the FaceBook message, TC had denied that he had been touched sexually. R273:141. DE denied he had any problems regarding visitation with his son. R273:141.

CC testified that Mr. Dewey was his father.

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