Brief of Respondent

Filed 10-07-2021

Page 1 of 37

FILED 10-07-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

### COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2021AP174-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL T. DEWEY,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND DENIAL OF A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MONROE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TODD L. ZIEGLER, PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

<sup>6</sup> Or, for that matter, multiple charges under the same statute that clearly delineate what type of conduct is the basis for the charge.

underlies the guilty verdict. Rather, the jury needs only to agree that at least once during the charging period the defendant committed the conduct constituting the crime. *Molitor*, 210 Wis. 2d at 420 ("[W]hen the charged behavior constitutes 'one continuous course of conduct,' the requirement of jury unanimity is satisfied regardless of whether there is agreement among the jurors as to 'which act' constituted the crime charged.") (citation omitted).

Lomagro also shows that the jury does not need to agree on which specific act underlies a guilty verdict when the State introduces evidence that the defendant committed the criminal conduct underlying a single charge multiple times during the charging period. Lomagro, 113 Wis. 2d at 595. There, the defendant, Charles Lomagro, and an accomplice drove the victim to a secluded area and Lomagro forced her to engage in penis-to-vagina intercourse. Id. at 584. The codefendants then drove elsewhere, stopped, and forced her to engage in a second and third act of penis-to-vagina intercourse. Id. On the way to a gas station, the codefendant forced her to perform fellatio on him. Id. After leaving the gas station and arriving at another secluded area, she was forced to perform fellatio on both men. Id. They finally agreed to release her and took her to her friend's house. Id.

The State charged Lomagro with a single count of first-degree sexual assault for these events, and the jury returned a guilty verdict. *Id.* at 585. Lomagro appealed, arguing that he was deprived of his right to a unanimous jury and "that when the state presents evidence of separate crimes and charges only one count, the jury must agree as to the specific act that constituted the crime." *Id.* The supreme court disagreed. *Id.* at 587–88. It held that it was "up to the state to determine the appropriate charging unit for a particular criminal episode." *Id.* at 589. Accordingly, "[w]hen separate criminal offenses of the same type occur during one continuous criminal transaction, the prosecutor may join

these acts in a single count if they can properly be viewed as one continuous occurrence without violating the protections afforded the defendant by the rule against duplicity." *Id*.

Allowing the State to charge repeated instances of a specific type of sexual abuse against the same child by the same perpetrator as a continuing crime, even when the assaults span a period of months, is the only rational interpretation of the law. Child sexual assaults by a person who has continuing access to the child, like many continuing crimes, are episodic; they happen again and again, but only when the abuser has the opportunity to commit an assault without being detected. The sexual conduct toward the child is the crime, and the ongoing, repeating nature of it makes it continuous.

The acts underlying each count here were even more conceptually similar than those at issue in *Lomagro*, because here, the acts underlying each separate count consisted of performing the exact same type of conduct repeatedly. In *Lomagro* the victim testified that the defendant forced her to engage in both penis-to-mouth intercourse and penis-to-vagina intercourse and the court held that either could satisfy the single sexual assault charge without violating unanimity principles. *Lomagro*, 113 Wis. 2d at 598.

Here, Corey testified that Dewey forced him to engage in penis-to-anus intercourse on multiple occasions, penis-to-mouth intercourse on multiple occasions, committed incest with Corey on multiple occasions, forced Corey to expose his penis on multiple occasions, exposed Dewey's own penis on multiple occasions. (R. 273:159–72.) He told these same things to the forensic interviewer. (R. 4:18–23.) Video of Corey's interview was played for the jury. (R. 273:157.) There is no risk that the jurors were split on whether Dewey committed any particular type of assault and thus could have lacked unanimity about whether an assault occurred at all like in *Marcum*; they clearly agreed that Dewey forced Corey

to engage in each of these activities at least once during the charging period. And, as explained, Dewey was not relying on an alibi defense that charging a continuing crime could have affected.

There is nothing in any of the statutes under which Dewey was found guilty that suggests the Legislature meant to prohibit the State from opting to charge them as a continuing offense, where the evidence warranted. See Wis. 948.02(1)(b); 948.06(1); 948.07(1); 948.10(1); 948.10(1)(a). And the charging period was narrowed to the times Dewey and Corey were specifically in that particular residence. The multiple assaults committed against the victim in Lomagro were committed at different times and in different places, but were still properly considered a continuing sexual assault. There is no reason for a different rule to apply here. And the law already recognizes that children, by nature, are far less capable of remembering specific dates and being able to pinpoint exactly when a particular event in a series of events took place than an adult. See State v. Sirisun, 90 Wis. 2d 58, 65–66 n.4, 279 N.W.2d 484 (Ct. App. 1979) ("A person should not be able to escape punishment for such a . . . crime because he has chosen to take carnal knowledge of an infant too young to testify clearly as to the time and details of such . . . activity.") Indeed, that is precisely the reason that specific dates are not required in prosecuting child sexual assaults. Hurley, 361 Wis. 2d 529, ¶ 34.

The assaults do not have to consist of a single unbroken event to be considered a course of conduct. Such a result would be absurd. The defendant in *George* committed multiple discreet acts on different days and at different times, and undoubtedly there were times when he was doing something other than taking bets. *State v. George*, 69 Wis. 2d 92, 100, 230 N.W.2d 253 (1975). But that did not prohibit the State from charging commercial gambling as a course of

conduct crime. *Id.* Indeed, even in *Lomagro* the court did not require the sexual intercourse to have continued in a single, unbroken assault for the State to charge a single offense. *Lomagro*, 113 Wis. 2d at 595–98. It would make no sense to hold that the State is prohibited from doing the same when child sexual assault crimes consisting of a pattern of conduct committed against the same victim by one perpetrator are charged.

And while Wis. Stat. § 948.025 offers an avenue for prosecution for the physical assaults in this situation, that statute does not cover the full range of criminal conduct that may occur when a child is assaulted. Here, Dewey's child enticement, exposing genitals to a child, and causing a child to expose their genitals charges could not be brought under that section because they did not constitute violations of Wis. Stat. § 948.02. See Wis. Stat. § 948.025(1). And the State did indeed charge, and the jury convicted, Dewey on six counts of repeated sexual assault of the same child, including a charge that he repeatedly assaulted Corey over these charged time periods. (R. 81:7; 87:1.) However, section 948.025(3) states that the State may not charge a defendant with repeated sexual assault of a child under section 948.025(1) and also with a single sexual assault of the same child or exposing genitals to the child, unless those violations occurred outside the time period charged in the repeated sexual assault count. Pursuant to this Court's decision in State v. Cooper, 2003 WI App 227, ¶¶ 1, 15, 267 Wis. 2d 886, 672 N.W.2d 118, the proper remedy in this situation is to dismiss the repeated sexual assault charge and allow the remaining charges for the individual acts to stand. Accordingly, Dewey's six repeated sexual assault of the same child convictions were vacated. (R. 206; 278:4–11.)

In these circumstances—where the State appropriately charged and convicted the defendant on charges of repeated sexual assault of the same child, but those charges were vacated after conviction pursuant to Cooper and section 948.025(3)—overturning the remaining verdicts on the individually charged counts because the child testified that multiple assaults occurred would be a perverse and absurd result. Defendants who assault a child so many times that the child can no longer distinguish between the assaults when they testify would receive a windfall from the very fact that they repeatedly assaulted the child. Cooper expressly recognizes the propriety of sustaining the individual charges in this situation. Cooper, 267 Wis. 2d 886, ¶ 15. And in cases where a child has been repeatedly assaulted, obviously if the child were able to be more specific about the assaults, the State would have charged them with specificity.

Moreover, requiring the jury to come to a consensus on a specific incident of conduct to sustain a guilty verdict in cases where there have been continuing assaults of a child would likely work to the defendant's disadvantage in certain cases, as well. If each assault had to be charged and proved separately, a defendant in a case like this would face potentially hundreds of charges with centuries of potential prison exposure. Such charges would also unduly prolong trials and likely confuse juries. Instead, the prosecutor here was able to group distinct types of conduct together and charge them as one offense. As the Sixth Circuit observed in a case involving a very similar set of facts, it should be "difficult to criticize the government's exercise of discretion when it redounds to the benefit of the defendant." *United States v. Alsobrook*, 620 F.2d. 139, 142–43 (6th Cir. 1980).

In sum, Dewey was charged with and convicted of six crimes against Corey: (1) repeated sexual assault of the same child; (2) first-degree sexual assault of a child under age 12 via sexual intercourse; (3) incest; (4) child enticement; (5) causing a child to expose his genitals; and (6) exposing Dewey's genitals or pubic area to a child, all committed between January 1, 2010, and June 10, 2010, or between

Case 2021AP000174 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-07-2021 Page 29 of 37

November 9, 2010, and February 9, 2010, or between June 16, 2011, and December 31, 2011, in a residence on Hollister Avenue. (R. 81:7–9.) The State introduced evidence showing that Dewey repeatedly committed conduct constituting all five of the individual crimes against Corey multiple times when he was at the Hollister Avenue address; this was a continuous pattern of conduct. The fact that the charging period alleged only the discrete dates that Corey and Dewey lived in the Hollister Avenue residence and that those dates were not completely continuous, along with the fact that Corey could not testify with specificity as to when any individual assault occurred, should be of no moment. The State appropriately charged and convicted Dewey on a count of repeated sexual assault of Corey during this period, which was later vacated due solely to operation of law and not any infirmity with the evidence. And neither the time nor the place the assaults took place are an element of any crime for which the jury found Dewey guilty.

Ergo, Dewey's right to a unanimous jury was not undermined by Corey's testimony that multiple assaults took place at the Hollister Avenue address. The jury clearly unanimously agreed that Dewey committed all of the essential elements of each charged crime when Corey and Dewey were at the house on Hollister Avenue. That was all that due process required. Dewey should not benefit from the fact that he assaulted Corey so many times that the child could no longer differentiate between particular assaults in his memory and the repeated assault conviction was vacated after trial pursuant to Cooper. Accordingly, Rhodes was not ineffective for failing to object to the form of the jury instructions or verdicts on these charges, because an attorney cannot be found deficient for failing to make unmeritorious objections. State v. Wheat, 2002 WI App 153, ¶ 14, 256 Wis. 2d 270, 647 N.W.2d 441.

2. To the extent this situation is not addressed by the above case law, the law is then unsettled on the issue and counsel cannot be found ineffective for failing to advance a novel argument.

Finally, even if this Court is not convinced that the case law discussed above speaks to this situation—where three distinct date ranges were alleged for the charge rather than a single continuous period and the evidence showed multiple assaults occurred across a long time span—then the circuit court was correct that the law on this particular issue is unsettled, and Rhodes cannot be found deficient for failing to raise the argument. *State v. Breitzman*, 2017 WI 100, ¶ 49, 378 Wis. 2d 431, 904 N.W.2d 93.

"Failure to raise arguments that require the resolution of unsettled legal questions generally does not render a lawyer's services 'outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance' sufficient to satisfy the Sixth Amendment." *Id.* (citation omitted). "Rather, 'ineffective assistance of counsel cases should be limited to situations where the law or duty is clear . . ." *Id.* (citation omitted). Rhodes cannot be found deficient for failing to raise an argument that rests on unsettled law. *State v. Maloney*, 2005 WI 74, ¶ 30, 281 Wis. 2d 595, 698 N.W.2d 583.

While it's long been recognized that a jury must reach a unanimous verdict in a criminal case, there has been much debate on what exactly "the jury must be unanimous about." *Johnson*, 243 Wis. 2d 365, ¶ 11. Dewey contended postconviction that the jury must be unanimous about which particular offense in a series took place when there are multiple distinct charging periods for a single offense; but the State, Dewey, and the circuit court could not find any case law that directly addresses this situation. (R. 279:21–25; 282:8–9.)

Case 2021AP000174 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-07-2021 Page 31 of 37

Dewey himself described this case as "unique." (R. 279:22.) The closest case either party could locate was Lomagro, and it did not deal with whether a unanimity issue arises if the State alleges three distinct charging periods for a single count based upon a pattern of conduct; it dealt with whether there was a jury unanimity problem when the State presented evidence that the defendant engaged in several different types of conduct during a single sexual assault that each could have satisfied the elements of a single charge. (R. 237; 242; 279:21–28; 282:4–11); Lomagro, 113 Wis. 2d at 586–96. Indeed, none of the case law Dewey relies on in his appellate brief addresses the question at issue here, either. (Dewey's Br. 56–59.) It is all case law about jury unanimity as a general principle.

And this Court has already recognized that while *Lomagro* can be extended to address this situation, it did not squarely do so. *McMahon*, 186 Wis. 2d 68. In *McMahon*, this Court held that counsel could not be found deficient for failing to raise an extremely similar argument to that which Dewey raises here: an argument that *Lomagro* prohibited charging several sexual assaults that occurred over a six-week time period as a single count on jury unanimity grounds. *Id.* at 84–85.

Accordingly, Rhodes did not have a professional obligation to raise this objection because it is not at all clear that the instructions or verdicts were problematic. *Lomagro* has not been clarified on this point, as this Court recognized as recently as a few weeks ago. *State v. Larson*, 2021 WL 4438151, ¶¶ 2, 6–14 (Sept. 28, 2021) (recommended for publication). The circuit court summed it up perfectly when it observed that "[w]hile trial counsel should know that an objection needs to be made at the instructions conference to jury instructions if the unanimous verdict issue exists, the fact that a unanimous verdict issue was there would not have been clear to [Rhodes]" at the time. (R. 282:8–9.) There is no

clearly established law addressing this situation. Dewey thus failed to show that Rhodes performed deficiently by not objecting on unanimity grounds to the instructions or verdicts related to counts 32 through 36.

C. Dewey cannot show prejudice because the circuit court would have simply amended the instructions and verdicts to charge a continuous period, and any error in the instructions or verdicts was harmless.

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